170.

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA CONTY

### REBECCA HOWELL.

Plaintiff and Appellant,

ν.

### HAMILTON MEATS & PROVISIONS, INC.,

Defendant and Respondent.

After a Decision By The Court of Appeal Fourth Appellate District, Division One Case No. D053620

SUPREME COURT

(San Diego County Superior Court Case No. GIN0539 5) LED

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

DEC 31 2009

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

### TYSON & MENDES, LLP

Deputy

ROBERT F. TYSON (Bar No. 147177) MARK T. PETERSEN (Bar No. 163962)

5661 La Jolla Boulevard

La Jolla, CA 92037

Phone: (858) 459-4400

Fax: (858)459-3864

RTyson@tysonmendes.com

MPetersen@tysonmendes.com

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

<u>Issue No. 1</u>: May a personal injury plaintiff recover as economic damages an amount exceeding what his or her private health insurance has paid and the relevant healthcare provider has accepted as payment in full for medical services?

There is an express split of authority in the published Court of Appeal decisions addressing this issue.

<u>Issue No. 2</u>: Is a trial court authorized to hear a post-verdict motion to reduce a plaintiff's past medical expenses award by the amount which it exceeds what

a plaintiff's health care insurer has paid, and medical providers have accepted, as payment in full?

Again, there is an express split of authority in the published Court of Appeal decisions addressing this issue.

<u>Issue No. 3</u>: Should the collateral source rule be abolished in its entirety in the state of California?

No petition for rehearing was filed in the Court of Appeal by petitioning party.

I.

### **INTRODUCTION: WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED**

In this case, review is necessary both "to secure uniformity of decision" and "to settle an important question of law." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) The Court of Appeal's published opinion here creates a conflict regarding whether a plaintiff in a personal injury case may recover as economic damages an amount exceeding what his or her private health insurance has paid and the relevant healthcare provider has accepted as full payment for medical services. This would include the difference between the agreed upon payment by the private health insurance and accepted by the healthcare provider, and the face amount of the bill from the healthcare provider.

This excess amount is not owed by anyone or sought by anyone, other than plaintiffs and their lawyers. The plaintiff and her health insurance carrier do not owe any money to the healthcare provider and the healthcare provider is not seeking any money, as it has been paid in full. This excess amount is also not a "collateral source" as defined in California. The excess amount does not represent *payment* from a source secured by the plaintiff. Rather, contrary to all other economic damages, the opinion here increased plaintiff's damages by amounts *not* paid and which never will be paid.

Second, a dispute exists in California case law whether a trial court is authorized to hear a post-verdict motion to reduce a past medical expenses award by the amount exceeding what his or her private health insurance has paid and the relevant healthcare provider has accepted as full payment for medical services. Case law indicates such a motion is proper, but disputes remain on its form and propriety.

Finally, the conflicting Court of Appeal opinions on this topic give rise to the bigger question of whether the so-called "collateral source rule" should be abolished in its entirety in the state of California. In California, the rule was judicially-created. The rule does not exist uniformly throughout the United States. Only this Court may determine whether it remains a worthwhile and useful rule in this State.

## A. <u>ISSUE NO. 1: Dispute Created On Recovery Of</u> Phantom or Excess Medical Expenses

Before the Court of Appeal's decision here, the law was clear that a personal injury plaintiff is *not* allowed to recover past medical expenses that were not due or owing to a health care provider. In *Hanif v. Housing Authority* (1988) 200 Cal.App.3d 635 ("*Hanif*"), the 1<sup>st</sup> Appellate District Court held a damage award for past medical expenses in an amount greater than its actual costs "**constitutes overcompensation**." *Id.* at 641 (emphasis added). The maximum amount a plaintiff can recover for medical services is the amount "expended or incurred for past medical services," even if that amount "may have been less than the prevailing market rate." *Id.* at 641.

In *Hanif*, the court proceeded to the heart of the matter: What constitutes the "reasonable value" of the medical expenses a plaintiff may recover? The court concluded the *recoverable* "reasonable value" could *not exceed* "the actual amount [plaintiff] paid or for which [plaintiff] incurred liability for past medical care and services." *Id.* at 640 (emphases added). In the context of *Hanif*, the "reasonable value" of medical services recoverable by that plaintiff could not exceed the amount actually paid by Medi-Cal to satisfy the medical bills in full. *Id.* at 643-644.

Hanif is in accord with the purpose of an award of damages, which is to compensate the plaintiff for the loss or injury sustained as a result of the tortfeasor's actions. The object is to restore the plaintiff as nearly as

possible to his or her former position, without placing the plaintiff in a *better* position than he or she would have been if the wrong had not been done. *Id.* at 641.

Hanif acknowledged the collateral source rule and complied with the rule. Id. at 639-640. Specifically, the court declared "there is no question...that Medi-Cal's payment for all injury-related medical care and services does not preclude plaintiff's recovery from defendant, as special damages, of the amount paid." Id. (Emphasis added.) The collateral source rule was satisfied, as it was in the current case, because the amount the plaintiff was not permitted to recover from defendant was only that portion which the healthcare provider could not pursue or collect. The plaintiff was obviously not liable for such amount, and therefore was obviously precluded from recovering such amount.

In a case most similar to the one at hand, *Nishihama v. City and County of San Francisco* (2001) 93 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 298 (1<sup>st</sup> Dist.), the plaintiff was injured when she tripped on a sidewalk maintained by the defendant, City of San Francisco. *Id.* at 301. The jury awarded plaintiff approximately \$20,000 for medical care costs, including approximately \$17,000 for hospital care. The amount of \$17,000 was the hospital's "normal rates" billed. *Id.* at 306.

Unlike *Hanif*, the plaintiff in *Nishihama* was insured by a *private* medical insurance provider, Blue Cross. *Id*. The insurer had a contract with the hospital by which the hospital agreed Blue Cross would pay reduced rates

for certain medical services to Blue Cross members and the hospital would accept Blue Cross's payment as payment in full for those services. *Id.*Accordingly, the hospital accepted \$3,600 as full and final payment for the \$17,000 in expenses billed. *Id.* at 306-307.

The *Nishihama* court held the contract between Blue Cross and the hospital obligated plaintiff (through her carrier) to pay the medical provider only \$3,600. In turn, the plaintiff was permitted to recover no more than \$3,600 for past medical expenses from the defendant, because the amount represented the "sum certain to have been paid or incurred for past medical care and services." *Id.* at 306.

The *Nishihama* court also held the hospital had no lien rights under California's Hospital Lien Act (HLA) against the plaintiff's recovery because it had accepted a lesser amount as payment in full for the medical services. Per *Nishihama*, a plaintiff may not recover past medical expenses in an amount greater than what his or her healthcare provider accepted as payment in full from a private healthcare insurer for medical services rendered to the plaintiff. *Id.* at 307.

In our case, the 4<sup>th</sup> District Court of Appeal expressly disagreed with the holding in *Nishihama* "and the reasoning upon which it is based." *Howell v. Hamilton Meats & Provisions, Inc.*, 2009 WL 4021368, at p. 11 ("*Howell*")(See **Exhibit "1," p. 24** attached hereto.). The Court of Appeal held that the issue of whether a plaintiff is entitled to recover these excess

medical expenses in *Nishihama* "should have been resolved based on an analysis of [plaintiff's] rights under the collateral source rule, rather than on an analysis of [the healthcare provider's] lien rights under the HLA." *Howell*, *supra*, p. 11 (**Exhibit** "1," p. 24). The Court of Appeal concluded the proper analysis in *Nishihama* would have been to determine whether plaintiff, before she received hospital care, entered into a financial responsibility agreement with the hospital, and thus whether "she incurred pecuniary detriment or loss in the form of personal liability for the medical expenses she would later incur at [the hospital's] normal rates." *Howell*, *supra*, p. 11 (**Exhibit** "1," p. 25).

Due to these directly contrasting opinions, this area of law is in a state of confusion. The Supreme Court of California should address this issue of conflicting opinions issued by various appellate districts.

## B. ISSUE NO. 2: Uncertainty Exists As To Trial Courts' Authority To Hold Post-Verdict Motion To Reduce Medical Expenses

Separate from the dispute over the *substantive* rule concerning the correct amount of a past medical expenses award is the dispute over the *procedure* by which the award may be determined. California case law holds an award for past medical expenses may be reduced *after* trial by either the trial court or a reviewing court. The First District in *Nishihama*, *supra*, concluded the trial court "erred" in permitting the *jury* to award plaintiff the

billed medical expenses rather than the true amount accepted by the healthcare providers as payment in full. 93 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 298, 309. Accordingly, the Appellate Court "simply modif[ied] the judgment to reduce the amount awarded as costs for medical care." *Id*.

The Third District Court of Appeal in the later decision of *Greer v. Buzgheia* (2006) 141 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1150 ruled the *trial court* can make such post-trial modifications as well. In *Greer*, the trial court denied a motion *in limine* to preclude submission of the non-discounted medical bills, but "made it clear that if the jury rendered an award that was excessive under *Hanif/Nishihama*, it would consider a post-trial motion to reduce the recovery." *Id.* at 1157. The Appellate Court concluded "the [trial] court's ruling was correct." *Id.* In affirming not only the substantive holdings of *Hanif* and *Nishihama*, the *Greer* court specifically affirmed the trial court's *procedural* authority to hold a post-trial motion to reduce the verdict in accordance with those cases. *Id.* However, the post-trial motion in *Greer* was doomed as the result of a defective special verdict form, not because of anything related to the *Hanif/Nishihama* rule. *Id.* at 1153, 1156.

The recent case of Olsen v. Reid (2008) 164 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 200, also confirms a post-trial hearing in the trial court is proper on the Hanif/Nishihama issue, wherein it stated:

If the proper application of the collateral source rule includes reducing a verdict to the amount actually paid or incurred by the plaintiff or a collateral source such as a health plan, a

hearing is necessary and appropriate to determine the correct amount. ... The propriety of such a hearing is not a separate issue. If such a hearing is to be held, the trial court has the statutory authority under Evidence Code sections 320 (order of proof) and 402 (procedure for determining evidentiary matters) to hold the hearing.

Id. at 217-218 (emphasis added).

### C. The Disputed Issues Are Important In

### **California**

In addition to securing uniformity of decision, review should be granted because the issue about which the Courts of Appeal disagree is an important one. The issue of whether a plaintiff in a personal injury case may recover as economic damages an amount exceeding what his or her private health insurance has paid and the relevant healthcare provider has accepted as full payment for medical services arises an untold number of times every year in virtually every personal injury case in California. Under this Court of Appeal's holding, plaintiffs can now recover windfall "compensatory" damages that, in fact, are not compensation to anyone for anything.

The allocation of millions, if not hundreds of millions, of dollars rests on this issue every year. This is money that will come out of the pockets of California citizens and their insurers. The result will be that defendants will have to increase the prices they charge to the public at large for goods and services they sell and insurers will have to raise premiums charged to the public. Thus, California citizens will ultimately bear the burden of

providing windfall profits to a select group – tort litigation plaintiffs and their attorneys. That is neither fair, just, nor good public policy.

This petition presents an important legal question of whether a plaintiff in a personal injury case may recover as economic damages an amount exceeding what his or her private health insurance has paid and the relevant healthcare provider has accepted as full payment for medical services. In other words, should these past expenses subject to neither collection nor pursuit by a plaintiff's healthcare provider (be it hospitals, clinics, doctors, etc.) be considered a recoverable benefit under the collateral source rule? The petition also presents the broader question of whether the collateral source rule should be abolished entirely in the state of California.

This court should grant review and reverse the Court of Appeal's ruling, approving instead the established rule in *Hanif, Nishihama* and their progeny. Alternatively, this court should abolish the collateral source rule in its entirety.

II.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Underlying Accident

On November 17, 2005, plaintiff/appellant Rebecca Howell was involved in a car accident with a truck operated by an employee of defendant/respondent Hamilton Meats, Inc. on southbound Pacific Coast

Highway in Encinitas, California. The employee, Juan Carlos Saenz, was in the course and scope of his employment with Hamilton Meats at the time.

As a result of the accident, Ms. Howell claimed injuries to her neck, right arm, and right hand. She underwent a series of medical treatments, including two cervical discectomies and fusions.

Ms. Howell had private health insurance through PacifiCare. A portion of her medical bills were never pursued or collected by the hospital and surgeon who provided treatment, pursuant to contractual agreements between PacifiCare and these healthcare providers.

## B. <u>Pre-Trial Motion In Limine Filed by HAMILTON To</u> Exclude Excess Medical Expenses Is Denied.

HAMILTON filed a motion *in limine* on January 17, 2008 seeking to exclude the introduction of evidence at trial of the excess portions of the medical bills. (1 AA 73-107.) The motion was heard on January 29, 2008 by Judge Adrienne Orfield. (1 RT 64:17-69:6.) Judge Orfield denied the motion. However, the trial court specifically reserved its right to determine *post-trial* whether the medical expenses award would be reduced for the written off amounts. (1 RT 67:13-16.) A court has authority to prioritize and order such evidence. Cal. *Evidence Code* §§ 320, 402

HOWELL's counsel specifically proposed a post-trial procedure be employed to determine the issue, as reflected in the transcript from the *in limine* motion hearing:

The Court: I see this is a post-trial issue. They're [plaintiff] entitled to put their bills in front of the jury, whatever you can actually come up with to meet your burden. We can address that post-trial.

[Plaintiff's counsel]: ...My proposal would be just agree to what the number for past medical bills, and you guys can raise all the other arguments post trial, like if the Court inquired.

[HAMILTON' counsel]: So we're clear, I assume, it's the Court's position and ruling that the jury gets to see the entire medical bills and so there's no need for us to argue that they just see the reduced one?

The Court: Correct.

Mr. Tyson: You handle that at post-trial Hanif motion.

The Court: Correct.

(1 RT 67:13-16; 68:10-13, 27-28; 69:1-6 (emphasis added).)

Accordingly, the jury received evidence of the full billed amount of past medical expenses in the amount of \$189,978.63. (2 RT 117:15-118:5; 3 RT 195:16-25.) The jury also awarded \$200,000.00 to HOWELL for past non-economic (general) damages. (1 AA 178, 219.)

## C. <u>HAMILTON Filed Its "Hanif" Motion With Supporting</u> Evidence of Non-Collected, Excess Medical Bills

HAMILTON filed its motion titled "Post-Trial Motion to Reduce Past Medical Specials Verdict Pursuant to *Hanif v. Housing Authority* (1988) 200 Cal.App.3d 635" (hereafter referred to as "*Hanif* motion") on or about February 15, 2008. The *Hanif* motion included declarations of two personnel qualified to testify as to the amounts billed by their respective companies, the excess amounts never pursued, the zero balance of the accounts, and that HOWELL would not be pursued for the excess amounts in any manner. (1 AA 123-176.) <sup>1</sup> Through the *Hanif* motion, HAMILTON sought a reduction of \$130,286.90 from the past medical expenses award, which represented the excess, uncollected amount. (1 AA 123.) The hearing for the *Hanif* motion was initially scheduled for May 2, 2008, the earliest available date provided by the court clerk. (1 AA 192:19-21.)

1. Scripps Memorial Hospital Bills Reduced by \$94,894.42

Evidence at trial demonstrated Scripps Memorial Hospital billed

\$122,841.07 for medical services provided to HOWELL. This information was included in the *Hanif* motion. (1 AA 132-135; 139-146.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For Scripps Memorial Hospital, the declarant was the "Supervisor of Customer Service and Collections from Third Parties" at the hospital. For CORE Orthopedic, the declarant was the knowledgeable employee in the "Accounting Department of CHMB, a medical billing company which provides medical billing services for CORE Orthopedic Medical Center." (1 AA 132-137.)

Of this amount, HOWELL's medical insurer (Pacificare) paid \$24,380.39. (1 AA 139-146, entries identified as ""HMO/PPO Payments"; 1 AA 132:25- 133:2, 23-27; 134:20-24.) Additionally, HOWELL paid \$3,566.26. (1 AA 139-140 and 145-146, entries identified as "Patient Payment"; 1 AA 132:25- 133:23; 134:20-24.) The balance of the Scripps Memorial bills, amounting to \$94,894.42, were never collected or pursued by Scripps Memorial. (1 AA 139-146, entries identified as "PPO/HMO/CMS/WC MANUAL"; 1 AA 133:4-7; 134:1-4, 26- 135:2; 135:12-18.) No lien has been asserted for this amount. (1 AA 135:12-18.) According to the declarant for the hospital, supported by the submitted exhibits:

No outstanding balance remains on Ms. Howell's account and no further collection will be pursued. Accordingly, Ms. Howell's account is considered closed.

(1 AA 135:16-18.)

### 2. CORE Orthopedic Medical Center Bills Reduced By \$35,392.48.

Plaintiff's treating spine surgeon, Dr. Timothy Peppers, is affiliated with CORE Orthopedic Medical Center in Encinitas ("CORE"). The amount billed for Dr. Peppers' treatment of HOWELL related to the accident was \$52,915.14 for the period from December 5, 2005 through August 1, 2007. (1 AA 136-137; 148-175.)

Per billing records for CORE for this period, the total amount "adjusted" by CORE, i.e., deemed excess, was \$35,392.48. (1 AA 137:3-7; 148-175.) This amount was a contractual reduction agreed to between

HOWELL's medical insurer and CORE Orthopedic. (1 AA 137:3-7.) This waived or written off amount will never be sought, or collected, from HOWELL. (1 AA 137:9-12.)

The combined excess amount never to be collected or pursued by Scripps Memorial Hospital (\$94,894.42) and CORE (\$35,392.48) is \$130,286.90. HAMILTON requested the trial court reduce the past medical expenses portion of the judgment by this excess amount. (1 AA 123-130.)

### D. HOWELL Requested Continuance of The Hanif Motion

The original hearing date for the *Hanif* motion of May 2, 2008 provided HOWELL with more than 10 weeks' notice (76 days). This notice period exceeded the minimum 75-day notice period required for summary judgment motions in California. *C.C.P.* §437c(a).

On April 4, 2008 HOWELL filed an *ex parte* application to continue the *Hanif* motion hearing date and re-open discovery. (1 AA 180-189.) HOWELL claimed a sudden need to pursue discovery from her *own* healthcare providers (Scripps Memorial Hospital and CORE Orthopedic) and her *own* medical insurer (Pacificare), despite the fact she could have sought and obtained such records (as a patient and insured) at any time before or during the litigation. (1 AA 182.) This *ex parte* application marked the first appearance by attorney John Rice for HOWELL, who "associated in on the case principally to handle the post-trial motion on the *Hanif* issue." (5 RT

243:13-15.) HAMILTON filed opposing papers to the *ex parte* application on April 3, 2008. (1 AA 190-210.)

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