Suprem Court Copy

IN THE

SUPREME COURT FILED

JAN 2 1 2010

Frederick, K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

CASE NO.: S179115

REBECCA HOWELL,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

HAMILTON MEATS & PROVISIONS, INC.,

Defendant and Respondent.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal
Fourth Appellate District, Division One
Case Number D053620
(San Diego Superior Court Case Number GIN053925)
(The Hon. Adrienne Orfield, Judge)

APPELLANT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LAFAVE & RICE

John J. Rice, Esq. (Bar No. 162968) 2333 First Avenue, Suite 201 San Diego, CA 92101 (619) 525-3918

Attorney for Plaintiff and Appellant, REBECCA HOWELL

IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

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

- Reichle v. Hazie, (1937) 22 Cal. App. 2d 543, 547 (where a patient is "admitted to a hospital without an express contract to pay for his care and treatment," the law implies an obligation of indebtedness for the hospital's charges for services rendered);
- Appleman v. National-Ben Franklin Ins. Co. of Illinois, (1978) 84
 Cal. App. 3d 1012 (Hospital charges were actually incurred by
 Medicare recipient, despite terms of contract between Medicare and hospital)
- Lindsey v. County of Los Angeles, (1980) 109 Cal. App. 3d 933, 938 (unpaid county hospital is a creditor of plaintiff for its full charges for medical care rendered);
- Holmes v. CSAA, (1982) 135 Cal. App. 3d 635, 638-639 (Medicare patient "expressly undertook personal liability" for the full charges of their hospitalization, as conditioned by the application of the agreement between the hospital and Medicare); and
- Bell v. Blue Cross of California, (2005) 131 Cal. App. 4th 211 (health plans must reimburse their plan members' non-contracting emergency providers the reasonable value of their services, not the same rates the plan negotiated to pay the contracting physicians).

From the trial court proceedings forward, Petitioner states again and again that the difference between the charges incurred and the cash portion of the contract payments made by private health insurers to medical care providers are "phantom" or a "nonexistent medical expense". The lack of authority to support their position is telling, as is their turning a blind eye to the established precedents in both case law and statutes. But repeating the statement again and again does not make it true. Ignoring the controlling precedents of this court does not create an unresolved issue of law justifying this court accepting the Petition for Review.

B. Howell Is Not in Conflict with the Decisions Cited by

Petitioner: There Is No Split of Authority for the Court

to Resolve

Petitioner's insistence that "there is an express split of authority in the published Court of Appeal decisions" depends upon a conscious disregard for the rules of precedence and a misconstruction of the appellate decisions themselves.

Petitioner posits that *Howell* is in conflict with the appellate decisions of *Hanif v. Housing Authority*, (1988) 200 Cal. App. 3d 635 and *Nishihama v. City and County of San Francisco*, (2001) 93 Cal. App. 4th 298. For that to be true, those cases would had to have addressed the

creditor-debtor relationship between medical providers and patients, and analyzed the treatment of negotiated contract rate differentials under the collateral source rule. A plain reading of these cases shows clearly that neither the *Hanif* nor *Nishihama* courts were presented with those issues, did not address them and do not rely on any analysis related to these issues.

1. Howell Presents No Conflict with Hanif v. Housing

Authority, (1988) 200 Cal. App. 3d 635

Hanif, supra, concerned unearned public Medi-Cal benefits, governed by a distinct statutory framework with specific provisions dictating the measure and right to recovery of damages for medical services from third parties sued in tort. W&I Code §§ 14124.70 et. seq.

*

3

That Medi-Cal benefits require analysis distinct from private health insurance plans is not merely a function of the nature of the benefits — earned benefits versus unearned welfare. Distinct analysis is compelled by the fact that these two forms of benefits are governed by entirely separate statutory schemes.

With regard to Medi-Cal benefits and third party liability for injuries, as a matter of both federal and state law, the right to recover "payment for [past] medical care from any third party" is not retained by

the patient-litigant. Rather, that right of recovery is assigned to the Department of Health Care Services (DHCS, formerly Department of Health Services):

"[T]he State is considered to have acquired the rights of such individual [a Medicaid beneficiary] to payment by any other party for such health care items or services,' [42 U.S.C.] § 1396a(a)(25)(H)." Arkansas Dept. of Health and Human Services v. Ahlborn, (2006) 547 U.S. 268, 268. Federal Medicaid law requires participating States: to provide that, as a condition of [Medicaid law requires participating States: "to provide that, as a condition of [Medicaid] eligibility..., the individual is required...(A) to assign the State any rights... to payment for medical care from any third party; ... (B) to cooperate with the State... in obtaining [such] payments... and ... (C)... in identifying, and providing information to assist the State in pursuing any third party who may be liable, § 1396k(a)(1)."

Id. at 268 (brackets and ellipses in original).

Welfare & Institutions Code § 14124.71(a) fulfills that requirement in California:

When benefits are provided . . . to a beneficiary . . . because of an injury for which another person is liable, or for which a carrier is liable in accordance with the provisions of any policy of insurance . . . the director [of DHCS] shall have a right to recover from such person or carrier the reasonable value of benefits so provided.

The nature and extent of DHCS' right to recovery of past medical damages is also proscribed by statute: "the 'reasonable value of benefits' means the Medi-Cal rate of payment." Welf. & Inst. Code § 14124.70 (c)(1).

Thus, as observed by this Court in *Olszewski v. Scripps Health*, (2003) 30 Cal. 4th 798, 827, as a matter of law "in a tort action," where Medi-Cal has provided services, "a Medicaid beneficiary may only recover the amount payable under the state Medicaid plan as medical expenses.

Consistent with DHCS' assigned statutory rights, "based upon "Medi-Cal's subrogation and judgment lien rights (W&I § 14124.70 et. seq.)" the tort plaintiff "is deemed to have personally paid or incurred liability" in the amount of Medi-Cal's rate of payment as to services paid by Medi-Cal, "and is entitled to recompense accordingly." *Hanif*, *supra*, 200 Cal. App. 3d at 640.

This result is not inconsistent with, and does not affect, either the provider-patient creditor-debtor relationship, or application of the collateral source rule to negotiated contract rate differentials- the issues analyzed in the *Howell* opinion and upon which the opinion rests.

2. <u>Howell Presents No Conflict with Nishihama v. City and</u>

<u>County of San Francisco</u>, (2001) 93 Cal. App. 4th 298

Nishihama involved a patient insured with Blue Cross, who obtained medical care from California Pacific Medical Center (CPMC). CPMC was a contracting provider with Blue Cross. Nishihama brought suit against

the City and County of San Francisco. And CPMC made a claim under the Hospital Lien Act (Civ. Code § 4045.1, et. seq.) to recover the difference between its usual and customary charges for medical services rendered to the patient, and the contract rates it had *negotiated* under its contract with Blue Cross. *Nishihama, supra* at 307.

So while *Nishihama* did at least involve a contracting provider's negotiated rate differential with Blue Cross, *Nishihama* did not analyze, consider or discuss (1) the patient's liability under the creditor-debtor relationship with their providers, or (2) whether that negotiated rate differential is a benefit to the health plans' insureds who select those contracting providers and subject to the collateral source rule. *see*, Ins. Code § 10133 (discussing alternative rates of payment contracts, and identifying the alternate rates as a benefit to insureds who select contracting providers).

7

Since neither *Hanif* nor *Nishihama* analyzed or discussed those issues, they are not proper authority for Petitioner's proposition that patients do not incur their providers' usual and customary charges and that negotiated contract rate differentials do not benefit insureds who choose to use contracting providers. "Cases are not authority for propositions not

considered." *People v. Banks*, (1959) 53 Cal. 2d 370, 389; *Peterson v. Lamb Rubber Co.*, (1960) 54 Cal. 2d 339, 343 (a decision has no value as precedent as to an undisputed, unchallenged proposition). In short, neither decision stands for the proposition that private health coverage negotiated rate differentials are not a collateral benefit.

Petitioner will correctly point out that *Nishihama* cited *Hanif* and found "that the jury improperly awarded plaintiff certain medical costs that she did not incur." *Nishihama*, supra, 93 Cal. App. 4th at 301. It is on the basis of *that* finding that Petitioner makes the claim of a conflict between *Howell* and *Nishihama* – if she did not incur CPMC's normal rates, she "cannot logically claim she 'suffered' a 'loss or harm' for those amounts." (PFR 26: 16-18.)

Nishihama, in Parnell, this Court reviewed the HLA. Parnell, supra. Like Nishihama before it, Parnell invalidated a hospital's claim under the HLA where that hospital's contract with the patient's health plan contained a negotiated schedule of payments through which the health plan could extinguish its plan members' debts for medical services. Parnell, supra at 609.

Unlike *Nishihama*, *Parnell* examined the creditor-debtor relationship between the medical provider and patient. *Parnell* found that the creditor-debtor relationship of provider and patient is for the provider's *usual and customary charges*, not the negotiated health plan rate. *Id.* at 611. To be fair to the *Nishihama* Court, the provider-patient creditor-debtor relationship was not disputed or contested by the parties before the Court – "Plaintiff did not and does not contest" the City and County of San Francisco's "assertion that CPMC accepted \$3,600 as payment in full for the services provided." *Nishihama, supra* at 307.

Parnell held that a contracting hospital could not pursue an HLA claim against its patients where the patient's "entire debt" for their providers' usual and customary charges is "extinguished" through the negotiated terms and payments between the hospital and those patients' health plans. Parnell, supra at 609. That holding is consistent with the statutory intent of Insurance Code Section 10133 (b), which describes alternate rates as a benefit to insureds: "an insurer may negotiate and enter into contracts for alternative rates of payment with institutional providers, and offer the benefit of these alternative rates to insureds who select those providers."

The *Nishihama* Court's bare statement that "the jury improperly awarded plaintiff certain medical costs that she did not incur" (*Nishihama*, *supra*, 93 Cal. App. 4th at 301) directly conflicted with numerous prior authorities where disputed issues of medical debt *were* directly analyzed and discussed, as well as with existing statutory authority:

- Reichle v. Hazie, (1937) 22 Cal. App. 2d 543, 547 (where a patient is "admitted to a hospital without an express contract to pay for his care and treatment," the law implies an obligation for the charges of a hospital for services rendered);
- Appleman v. National-Ben Franklin Ins. Co. of Illinois, (1978) 84
 Cal. App. 3d 1012 (Hospital charges were actually incurred by
 Medicare recipient despite terms of contract between Medicare and hospital)
- Lindsey v. County of Los Angeles, (1980) 109 Cal. App. 3d 933, 938
 (unpaid County hospital is a creditor of plaintiff for its full charges for medical care rendered);
- Holmes v. CSAA, (1982) 135 Cal. App. 3d 635, 638-639 (Medicare patient "expressly undertook personal liability" for the full charges of their hospitalization, as condition to application of the agreement between the hospital and Medicare);

- Insurance Code § 10133 (1982 Amendments) (payment of health insurance benefits requires that plan member first incur expenses for hospitalization or medical aid);
- Health & Safety Code § 1339.51(b)(1) (Added by Stats. 2003, Former § 1339.51, added by Stats. 1984) ("Charge description master' means a uniform schedule of charges represented by the hospital as its gross billed charge for a given service or item, regardless of payer type");
- City and County of San Francisco v. Sweet, (1995) 12 Cal. 4th 105,
 117 (patient is a debtor to county hospital for hospital's billed charges, "regardless of the outcome of" patient's third party tort action); and
- Mercy Hospital and Medical Center v. Farmers Insurance Group of Companies, (1997) 15 Cal. 4th 215 (a hospital is a creditor of the patient and has a "pre-existing right" to "recover sums due from any after-acquired assets of the patient . . . regardless of the source of those assets," a right that is reduced, but not extinguished by, payment of an HLA claim).

///

Subsequent to Parnell, in Prospect Medical Group, Inc. v.

Northridge Medical Group, (2009) 45 Cal. 4th 497, 510, this Court returned to review aspects of the statutory scheme governing medical provider and health plan relations, set forth in the Insurance and Health & Safety Codes.

Prospect observes that California's statutory scheme "requires emergency care patients to agree to pay for the services or to supply insurance information," that a health plan has a "duty to pay a reasonable and customary amount for the services rendered" for non-contracting providers' emergency treatment of plan members, and that absent a contract, neither the patient nor the health plan can impose alternate rates of payments on medical providers.

To the doubtful extent *Nishihama* should ever have served as precedent for Petitioner's proposition, *Nishihama* is no longer valid authority. The *Nishihama* court's statements concerning amounts not incurred, on which Petitioner relies, are supplanted by this Court's holding to the contrary in *Parnell*. An injured plaintiff's "common law compensatory rights under the collateral source rule" are "independent of, and unrelated to" a hospital's "statutory lien rights under the HLA." *Howell*, *supra*, 101 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 818.

In this light, the *Howell* court's statement "We disagree with this holding in *Nishihama* and the reasoning upon which it is based", (*Howell, supra* at 818) does not reflect a conflict with regard to the issues presented. Rather, the *Howell* Court's opinion recognizes the controlling precedent of *Parnell* and *Helfend.* (*Id.* at 815-816). Since the decision in *Nishihama* rested on application of the HLA and not the collateral source rule, *Howell's*, application of the collateral source rule does not create a split of authority to warrant this court granting the Petition for Review.

3. No Case Creates or Endorses a Post-Verdict Reduction

Procedure with Regard to Health Insurance Benefits

Petitioner next asserts that *Nishihama*, *supra*, 93 Cal. App. 4th 298, *Greer v. Buzgheia*, (2006) 141 Cal. App. 4th 1150, and *Olsen v. Reid*, (2008) 164 Cal. App. 4th 200 establish a procedure whereby "past medical expenses may be reduced after trial," offsetting damages by virtue of the negotiated rate differential accepted by contracting medical providers from a plaintiff's health plan. (PFR 7-90, heading B; 27-28, heading C.)

Petitioner seeks to bootstrap this language concerning procedure and evidentiary issues into holdings on the substantive law issue, of whether a Plaintiff can only recover the cash portion of the consideration paid by

private health insureds to health care providers to satisfy a Plaintiff's incurred debts for past medical specials, while ignoring the value of the negotiated rate differential. This effort is pure sophistry.

Petitioner's claim that *Greer v. Buzgheia*, *supra*, and *Olsen v. Reid*, *supra*, stand for the proposition that a post-verdict hearing is appropriate is at odds with the express statements of those courts to the contrary.

Greer discussed post-trial modifications under the sub-heading "Post-verdict Hanif/Nishihama issues":

Defendant next claims the trial court erred in not ordering a Hanif/Nishihama reduction after the verdict was returned ... [¶] We **need not address these claims** individually, for we find they have all been forfeited by defendant's failure to request a verdict form containing a separate entry for plaintiff's past medical expenses. [emphasis added]

Greer, supra, 141 Cal. App. 4th at 1157-1158 (emphasis added)

The Greer court never reached the substantive law issue, dispensing with the case based on the lesser grounds of procedural and evidentiary insufficiency. Defendant had not preserved the issue by separating the past medical specials from other special damages on the special verdict form.

As such, there was no finding on the amount of past medical specials - a necessary starting point in deciding the motion. *Greer* at 1158.

///

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